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My birth took place July 18, 1891 in a cottage on a
wooded lot at Jones and Lombard Streets in San francisco,

- California where ny mother?s widowed mother lived.

ily father, John Haraden Pratt, came from the State
of laine where he was born at Freeport, November 20, 1848,
arriving in California in 1873. Studying in Germany he re-
ceived a Degree from the Leinsiz Consitervatory of lLusic
in 1881 and pnrepared for a professional career, IMeanwhile
his brother eumnloyed him in railroad work., His older brothers
Georze and William came to California via Panama in the
gold~rush year of 1849 followed by the eldest brother Robert
who sailed around the Horn in his own vessel arriving New
Year®s Day, 1850. Robert later became a builder of the trans-
continental railroad, the Central Pacific,; having at one
time charge of construction between Reno and Ogden. He re-
tired as Assistant General lianager of the Southern Pacific
Company in 1897. Father's ancestry was established in this
country by the arrival from England of Hatthew Pratt in 1623,
His ancestors came to England from Normandy with William the
Conqueror. The family remained in New England until gold
was discovered in Californla, the last of them leaving in
1875 when grandfather Simeon Pratt was drowned in an attempt
to jump on the Charles River ferry at Cambridge,; Fass.

lfiother’s parents came from Germany, via New York and
Panama in 1853, Her father was a wining engineer and, for
a tlme, practiced in Virginia, Nevada Territory, before
gllver was discovered, Father married Sopnhie Adelheit
Christian in 1890. She was born in San Francisco December
21, 1862, Her maternal lineage has been traced back to the
Thirty Years' War in Germany at which time the vital static-
tics® records were taken to Stuttgart, Wﬁttemberg for =afe
keeping. Stuttgart was sacked and burned whereas the village
of Buchau was not.

Father and mother were both telegraph operators in
San Francisco, In those days these operaforshad their homes
connected with a telegraph wire strung over rooftons and
mailntalned by the electrician of the Western Union Telegraph
Company, a lr., Eastman, Father discovered this wire came
close to nisg boarding house room and paid ir. Fastman twenty
dollars to install a loop. One evening someone came on the
Wwire with a stanza from the German poet Goethe., Father,
having spent several years in Germany, broke in and supplied
the second stanza., Later they married.

When I was five years old mother built a home at 1530
Lombard Street in San Francisico uging a small inheritance
left by an aunt from Germany. The building ie £till there.

In 1898, my parents had iir, Eastman wire the house from attic
to basement, broke out their old telegraph lnstruments and



i

a telegraph line establicshed. I was taught the code and this
intercomrmunication system was used a lot. This event, no doubt,
kindled my interest in electricity which was to becoue ny career,
llother was my teacher until the sixtth grade when I was sent

to grammar school and then to Lowell High School., Schooling
was. interrupted by the San Francisco earthquake and fire that
astarted April 18, 1906, I wag at my uncle Robert’s ranch

sixty mileg away in St, Helena for Easter vacatlon and exper-
ienced the quake about five in the morning, the bed rolling
around an uncarpeted room while I held a glass bodied kerocene
lamp, like the Statue of Liberty, to save it from being broken.
The shaking lasted almost a full minute the eztreme peak coning
during the last portion, The house lost the tops of its chimneys
which sheared off at roof level and fell in the garden. The
same casualty took place at my uncle George's house sgome five
miles away. We could cee the red skies over the burning cities
of San Francisco and Santa Rosa, Father could not get a permit
for me to return for two weeks owingto the food shortage. For
months thereafter, I stood in the bread lines daily for the
family®s rations. Lowell High School started again in January,
. the hours being from eight to one so the building could be
shared with the Girlfs High School for the afternoon. Girl's
High was not burned but collapsed due to the poor constructlon
that was a feature of the city‘s corrupt government, its beau-
tiful City Hall and Public Library sharing the came fate, liy
parent?’s home escaped the fire by two city blocks,

. It was in 1905 that I read in the Sunday newspaper

that liajor Squier of the Army was experimenting with wilreless
telegraphy between Fort lMason and Fort Alcatraz usging trées
instead of wireg for antennas. The Signal Corps had csatablicsh-
ed a wireless gystem there in 1900. Since I lived cloce to

Fort liason, I wanted to hear these sgignals and built crude re-
celving apparatus and an antenna using discarded wire the tele-
phone linemen were throwing in vacant lots (they were replacing
galvanized iron wire with copper), Iy cash outlay was less

than one dollar for a telephone receiver from a New York mail
order house, I falled to hear any signals, The quake and fire
terminated thecse experiments but when President Theodore Roosie-
velt sent The Great White Fleet around the world in 1908 I tried
it again., It was a school holiday and we went to the Presidilo
to see the fleet enter the Bay. During lunch this 1ldea came

to me. Rucghing to the bacement and dusting off the cobwebs,
sure enough here were the &gignals, loud and clear. But I did
not know the international Horse code they were using but I

had a copy of it taken from a library book. Many of the charac-
ters were the same, others were transposed such as the number

5 in the Amerlcan liorse code was the letter 0 in the Internation-
al. lilother wrote down the characters while I translated then.
The mesisages had to do with greetings, invitations to officers
for parties ashore and acceptances, They were handled through
two gshore stations of the Navy, one at liare Island and the

other at Yerbn Buefla Island.

This experience started me again in wireless. A neligh-.
bor of my uncle in St. Helena who had at one time been a tele-
grarh operator, purchased equipment and establiched a Wireless
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etation. UNeedins comeone to communicate with he offered me

a twenty dollar gold piece if I would equip myself with a
transmitter, With this I was able, in 1909, to have quite

a powerful station. It was necesicary to wire the house for
electric lighte and get the power connected. A friend who

wag secretary of a lumber company donated timbers with which

I erected a 110 foot high guyed mast in the back lot. Every
morning, for years,; at seven before starting for sichool, I
held schedules with other amateurs spread from Los Angeles to
Seattle. I was able to improve ny apparatus from the proceeds
of profits earned on the sale of equipment that I nanufaétured
for other amateurs in my basement workshop. One day a stray
horse kicked out one of my wooden mast anchors and wrecked

the structure. Another benefactor in the person of a wealthy
cousin donated new materials and the mast was rebuillt in 1911
with strong iron anchors thise time, Incidents in my wireless
education included the burning out of fourteen light fixtures
in a nearby apartment house that I had to repalilr, damaging a
special power transformer serving my home so my operations
would not blink the lights in other homes and the burning down
of a 13,000 volt power line feeding the city‘s trolley car
gystem when some of my antenna wires fell acros& it during

a storm at night. Luckily, I was not even interviewed about
this last casualty although the repair crew worked most of the
night,

Graduating from High School in Decewmber 1909, I found
that nothing was to be gained by entering college before the
usual opening in September 1910, so I got a job as a wireless
operator on shivns, The first trip was to Seattle Tacoma and
Olyumpla on the S. 8. Riversiide, a lumber carrier. As a pay
cargo she carried black powder to an explosive factory near
Olympia but I did not know this until the cargo was being dis-
charged. Broken cannisters of powder on the deck and dock
urged me to take a long walk achore until the operation was con-
cluded., It was at Tacoma that I had a severe attack of appen-
dicitis on a Saturday evening but I did not know the true
nature of it ascribing the paln to the food which, on those
shipey, could have been better. The pain ceacged abruptly about
three in the morninzg and I turned in. Sunday I visited a wire-
less amateur friend ashore (Fred Andrews, later in charge of
the army’s Alaska Communication Systen as a coomissioned Officem
of the Signal Corp&), not thnking any more about the indispo-
sition of the previous night. An operation in 1942 revealed
~that the appendirz had ruptured leaving numerous adhesions to
liver and kidneys. Nature had contained the poisons and caved
my life, The next ¢hip was the 8. 8. Falcon, also a lumber
carrier, goinz to Portland, Oregon. After that I got the larz-
est oll tanker afloat, the S, S. Pectan,; owned by the Union
0il Company of California but flying the British flag. I sign-
ed on and apparently had the status of a subject of the Crown
for the time being.

This ehip had originally belonged to the Dutch Shell
Company. They named their vessels after sea shells, A sample
of the sghell “Pectan' was on display in the salon in a glass
casie. Because c¢he could not carry a mixed carzodue to leakage
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between tanks, she was acquired by Union 0il for carrying

crude oil to South America. It was her first trip with wire-
less equipment and since there was not enough time to complete
the insgtallation at San Franciscoy I was put aboard with the
equipment and wade the installation at sea. Alsgo a first on
the ship was refrigeration, a large box and aunonla compressor
having been installed at San Francisico.,. Mot long after leaving
Port San Luis where we took aboard cargo from the Santa liaria
oill field, this compressor started giving trouble its frames
developing cracks, It sieems that the company‘s Port Captailn
had purchased the cheapest unit he could find in keeping with
the best traditions of the shipping business., While being over-
hauled at the Union Works a strike took place and the ship's
crew were induced to leave in sympathy with the strikers., So

a new crew was chipped, mostly beachcombers and we sailed with
the most motley, unkempt party of derelicts imaginable. So the
only persons able to use tools were the Chief Engineer and

the Wireless Operator (always called %"Sparks® because of the
spark type transmitters usged in those days). Each time we made
a repair it was completed before the ice box zot warm but,
finally, off the coast of Equador couming home, the final break-
down came, Vvirtually unrepairable and, putting some of the meat
in brine in casks on the boat deck, all the rest of the pericha>
bles were thrown overboard, :

The first port of call was Tocopilla, Chile, Leaving
there at five in the afternoon, engine trouble developed. A
heavy pounding shook the ship on each engine revolution. The
captain insisted on steaming eight miles out to cea
off a desiolate, barren, rocky coast before shutting down. By
this time the shaking became ominous., The Chief found that the
cover of the high pressure cylinder was cracking. BRolling al-
- mogt on our beam ends the heavy and hot cover was removed and
gecurcd with the assistance of most of the forty five firemen.
Disgruntled workers at the Union Iron Works had not secured
large capscrews on the top of the piston and they had worked
loosie thus striking the cover. It fell to the two of us to
get the broken studs out in this hot environment and wake new
screws as the spares had been thrown overboard by the saboteurs
in San Prancisco, I turned them out on the ship's lathe which
had no screw cutting attachments., Looking for a die, the Chief
found that also miseing but located one having the same thread
pitch but otherwise smaller., He made a rig for that and we
got under way again about nine the next morning under reduced
ateam pregssure with the damaged cover. reinforced with I beans,
Limping into Taltal, Chile a couple of days later, the Chief
gﬁd all this work done professionally by the railroad shops

ere,

I had an exciting time in Taltal, a town of about
7,000 population, It wasg the seaport for mines in the mountains.
Completely arid, all water was obtained by distillation of sea
water, I had charge of the ship's motor boat and ran a ferry
ashore., Thils gave me the opportunity of vieiting other ships.
I was always handsomely entertained on German vessels with
beer; pretzels, coffee and cake. One was the tremendous steel
salling vessiel Preussen, hauling nitrates to Hamburg. If che
nade the trip in 75 days (steamers did it in 60) her Captain
received a bonus, otherwies he had to relinquish the ship to
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another man and take a ¢mall one. I was not allowed to walk

on the poop deck 1t having been freshly holystoned, I saw

her towed to sgea where all her sails were holcotéd,Later that
year I read in a French language newsapaper found on a Sacra-
mento street cable car, that this fine ship had been completely
wrecked in a collisgion with a steamer in the Stralit of Dover,
during a fog. In 1957 I gaw her ship's bell on display in

the quarters of the New York Yacht Club at HMystic, Ccnnecticut.

As we neared the Galapagos Islands further engine
trouble came, duec to the piston rod having become slightly
bent by the previous pounding. This cracked glands admitting
live steam to the engine room, Each of the three cylinders
had three glands. The Chief borrowed one from each of the
other two and we moved at reduced speed to keep the steam pres-
sure down, Salt water showers were installed and the engine
roomn crew stood under them for two hour shifts in a temperature
that ran to 139 degrees in the troplcs. Later, on a suggestion
of the Chief, we ran a pipe line from the offending cylinder
to the condensier thereby drawing off the live steam, This
wae fine until the condenser collapsed when we were passing
Cape San Lucag at the tip of Lower California. The ship had
enough evaporators to produce frech water sufficient to make
about three knots headway. The Captain wanted to put into San
Diego and cursed the wirelecs when ordered to go to San Fran-
clesco, Thig was offcet somewhat when I was able to report the
Jeffries~Johnson fight, blow by blow,; at Reno while we were
Off the Santa Barbara coast., The ship had been scheduled to
go to Panama with a new cargo of oil and I was anticipating
-going up the old French canal and see the Pedro [liguel locks
under construction but this was cancelled and the ship went
into the yard for repair. I was assigned to a Standard 0il
tanker going to Seattle., This was welcome after near starva-
tion on the salted meat and other inadequate foods. Standard
0il ships fed very well besides paying me ten dollars a month
more, This attracted a better class of men and table conver-
sations were on a much higher level than usual.

In September; coupleting a few weeks as third shift
(midnight to eight ams at the San Francisco shore radio station
I entered the University of California at Berkeley. A s=trike
of wireless operators was on but it was shortlived. HMuch of

my work involved receiving batches of messages from Japanece
shipe bringing immigrants, These were to infornm friends and
relatives of thelr coming. The operators on these ships would
start sending them soon after leaving Japan when as far away
from California as 3,500 miles. Each summer and during Christ-
mas vacations I would work on ships or at the shore station.,
Altogether I was on nine vesgels, most of which became wrecks,
The Falcon was run onto Blunt’s reef on a clear moonlight
morning despite the presence of its Lightship. The Pectan

was run aground on San Miguel island, I was on the passenger
¢hip Santa Besa in May and June of 1911, naking a round trip
each week between San Francisco and San Diego., I left the ship
to attend surveying school at the =same time that Captain Alex-
ander took his annual vacation., Thig man persconally set the
new coursie after passing Point Arguello about three every
Friday morning going south because if it was not done correctly,
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the ship might run ashore on the Point or on San liguel Is-
land a few miles ahead. On the next voyage, number 1112, the
substitute captain gave the chore to the deck officer on

duty and turned in for the night, This officer changed course,
not when passing the Point Arguello lighthousie 1light but on
the headlight of a railroad locomotive that was going up the
coast, The ship ran on a sandbar and broke in half when the
tide went out., For many years her boilers could be seen in
the sand when passing on the day train, "The Lark®,

In 1912, Congress passed the Act requiring the licen- -
sing of wireless sets, ships and operators, It contalned
other provigions that made the operating of amateur stations
uninteresting. I uced mine no longer but maintained it as
father liked to listen in, Congress passced a Ship Act that
took effect in 1911 that required wireless operators to be
licensed., I called on Radio Inspector Cadmus in San Francilceco
who gave me a perfunctory examination and lesued the license,
It was Mr, Cadmus that gave me the 1912 licence, Having made
a friend of him, he issued me the first one, serial number 1201,

Having an idea that I might want to become an astro-
‘nomer, I took that subject in addition to engineering at the
University but, after two years, realized I was not a genius
and would only be able to earn a bare living at astronomy, so
dropped 1t. In 1912 I undertook to set up a laboratory concer-
ned with radio communication at the University, being assisted
‘by other interested students, principally Lewis i, Clement,
S. D. Browning and H, H. Buttner. Tq@ '1ave a good antenna we
stretched a wire on a rainy day from the top ot the new Canm-
panile, then under construction, o as to be unobserved since
the authorities had refused our application, made through the
faculty, on the grounds that it would disfigure the campus. Up
to the time I left Berkeley, nobody seemed to have seen it
being so small and high up. We accompliched some fantastic
receiving, getting the German stations on Jap and Nauru islands,
some 5,100 and 6,100 mwiles away. The astronomy department
asked me if I could receive signals from the station at Arling-
ton, Virginia that were being transmitted on a program with
French astrononers for the purpose of correcting the difference
of longitude between Washington and Paris. This we did and
the astronomers finally achieved a substantial correction
between Berkeley and Washington.

Graduating in lMay, 1914 with a B.S, Degree, I accepted
a position as assistant engineer of congtruction of a gigantic
300 kilowatt radio station in California intended for trans-
Pacific working, the transmitting station being at Bolinas
and the receiving station on Tomales Bay near Marshall. These
plants cost almost $800,000. The companion plants in the
Hawailan islands obtained the services of my amateur and college
friend, Lewlis i, Clement. Clement had a fairly knowledgeable
bosis whereas mine was completely out of his element. His name
was Adolph Rau and he took a honeymoon vacation right at the
time of the toughest part of the job when we were installing
equipment and machinery with the aid of incomplete drawings
and inadequate designse requiring the improvisation of substi-
tutes., Telegraph service with the 1glands was opened in Sept-
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euber, I resigned in February by which time operations had
settled into a routine., Besides, the management of the Ameri-
can Marconi Company had become rocky, their technique had
already become obgolete and greener fields beckonecd, Clement
algo resigned and took a position with the laboratories of the
Western Electric Company, later the Bell Telephone Laboratories,
I took a jJob as a machinist at the Mare Island Navy Yard after
spending two weeks seeing the Panama Pacific Exposition,

This machinist job was a dodge to get me on the pay-
roll, It paid $4.32 a working day but I had to work awhile
in the machine shop on shipse engines; reminding me of those hot
days in the tropics. But soon a special Civil Service examina-
tion was opened up and I became a minor official with the
title "Expert Radio Aide" which I held until 1920, Meanwhlle
I also qualified as an Engineer-at-Large and was offered a
post with the Reclamation Service in Denver at one hundred
dollars a month salary but declined this as the Navy Jjob was
much more in my line and paid considerably more. The Engineer-
at-Large rating qualified me to take the week-long examination
for Second Lieutenant in the Army Engineer Corps. They made
this examination so tough that it was said nobody ever passed
1t, thus the Corps could plick persons that suited them. After
the war started the Corps wrote me several times waiving one
requirement after another, finally offering me a higher rank
if I could get past the doctor. This I declined. The Navy work
had both advantages and disadvantages. The latter coumpriced
the opportunity of loafing extensively since I was in the pogi-
tion of writing my own ticket, The future seemed cloudy. A
current saying was that "Above the entrance to the Civil Service
was a sign ' All those who enter here give up hope forever® ",
The former included no interference becausie nobody around the
Place knew anything about radio communication the Navy having
only three such Experts so that I had full freedom to learn,
bulld equipuents and experiment. Soon naval officers came
beating at my door whereby I acquired other responsibilities
besldes gaining many good and later influential friends in the
Service as well as outside, I acquired a small staff, operated
a laboratory, designed equipument that was built in the local
yard shops, acted ag inspector for items purchased fron contract -
orsiy, lnstalled apparatus on naval vessels and maintained shore
stations from lMexlco through Alaska., FEach summer the collier
Saturn Was fitted out to make the rounds in Alaska, provide
-supplies, ;carry a working party to make repairs and additions
and relieve the crews with new personnel. In 1916 came the
construction of a 200 kilowatt plant near San Diego and I be-
came involved in some of that. With the coming of the war in
1917 the Navy took over all commercial radio communication
properties nnd it was my lot to deal with this, keep then in
running order, effect modernizations and move some of them to
war uses elsewhere,

Some time after the war started I was making an in-
sallation for Commander Dodd, Pacific Coast Communication Su-
perintendent on Goat Island. The Commander asked me if I was
stlll using oy wircless station in San Francisco becausie if
not he would like to stop the flow of letters from self-appoint-



-

ed spies that were reporting my station as one perhaps comn-
municating with the enemy. Since 1t wasg used only by father
for listening in I dismantled the outside antenna and installed
one in the attic under the roof. :

In July 1918, I was transferred to the Bureau in Wacsh-
ington, D.C.,and had charge of the construction and maintenance
of all the Navy's high powered radilo: stations, These were San
Diego, Pearl Harbor, Cavite in the Philippines, Tuckerton, N.J.,
wilth new ones going up at Sayville, N.Y., Annapolis, Md,,

El Cayey, Puerto Rico, Guam, the massive 1000 kilowatt station
at Croix d'Hins near Bordeaux, France and a number of smaller
ones including Vladivostok and [furmansk in Russia and Siberia,
This was an interesting period for me and I took advantage of
being in the Gapital to attend sessionss of Congress., I was
precsent at the enactment of the taking over of the telegraphs,
the Victory Bonds, the second draft law and the death of Pres-
ident Wilson's effort to get the United States into the League
of Nations,

Resigning from the Navy Department I became an englnecr
for the Federal Telegraph Company of San Francisco at its fac-
tory in Palo Alto, starting January 1920, Soon thereafter the
Chief Engineer, Mr., Beal, left for France to supervise the tests
of the 1000 kilowatt plant near Bordeaux and I was put in charge.
The company at that time was operating a public telegraph
gystem along the Paciflic Coast which started with wireless sta-
tions establiched in 1910 and 1911 but as the Navy took these
over in 1917, the coumpany leacged circuits from the telephone
ecompany to continue the gervice. They had no intention of re-
turning. to the use of radio transmission but were forced Into
it when, about March 1920, the telephone company cancelled the
leasea, The reason for thils was given for need of the wires
to meet demands for telephone use but the real reason was a
complaint from the Western Union Telegraph Company in New York
becaucse of the competition created and the telephone company
officials responded helpfully. Later they came to us and offer-
ed new leases but it was too late. We had obtained injunctions
from the Federal Courts in California and Oregon and had already
commenced construction. I designed and bullt a system that
provided threc circuits between Portland and San Francisco with
three more between San Francisco and Los Angeles, It cost about
$635,000 and the northern portion opened in 1921 and the south-
ern in 1922, 1In a few years this system moved more than half
of the telegraph businecs between the Pacific Coast cities, We
also established a comprehensive siervice with ships at cea.

Resigning upon the completion of this project, I went
to Mexlco hoping to secure some business as the long period
of revolution left the country with a great lack of communication
facilities. With an associate named Dabney Watson and with
the backing of General Soethals, builder of the Panama Canal
who then had a Consulting Engineering office in New York City,
we negotiated a number of contracts with the Obregon government.
Shortly after returning home and before completing the financing
of these, thc then Secretary of the Treasury, Senor de la Huertam
organlzed a revolution and we recelved a telegram cancelling
everything as llexico was forced to use all its slender funds
to purchase runitions, de la Huerta was finally forced to flee
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to France. I wrote off my losses on the income tét, moved
to Los Angeles and purcnaoed a vmall orange by-products
business,

October 31, 1924 I married Florence Irene Bacon in
Rivereside, California. Sorn in Kansas but early in life ghe
moved to the west and acquired a farm by homesteading near
Twin Falls, Idaho, With her came a sixteen year old son by
a former marriage, named John Morrissey. In 1925 I chanced
to meet an old friend on the street. He was a lawyer named
Robert A, Morton who had been asgsigned to my staff during the
. war., He told me he was the Secretary of a coumpany Jjust organ-
ized called: Western Alr Express. Ite purpose was to bid for
the air mail route between Salt Lake City and Los Angeles. Henry
Ford had purchased the Stout Airplane Company in Michigan that
was to make metal airplanes, Ford wanted customers for this
factory and had asked his Pacific Coast representative, Byron
L. Graves to organize a local coupany to bid for this contract.
Soon they secured the bid and Morton asked me to build a radio
communication system for it. The Chief Pilot, C. C. Moseley
did not want the Ford planes as they had not yet become gtable
enough for safe flying and was looking for a way out of the
obligation to Ford., It came while Western Air's officers were
on their way to Michigan. Before the train got to Chicago a
fire at the Ford hanghar destroyed the model planes =o the
party delightedly took the first train home and ordered planes
from Donald Douglas. Douglas was a small operator but had
.achlieved a reputation for the planes he built for the success-
ful flights the army made around the world. The craft he made
.for Western Air Express (now called Western Airlines) were o
good the Post 0ffice Department ordered fifty of them for the
main trans-continental line. In later years the Post 0ffice
contracted out the entire route and that was the beginning of
the United Alr Lines.

Building this syctem was a challenge. The new short
wave method for radio was just coming into being but little
was known about the correct wavelengths to use for particular
circumstances, I made a survey. With a base station in Mr.
Graves garage in Los Angeles sending signals, I toured the
California, Nevada and Utah degerts with my wife in our Stu-
debaker, equipped with a swall radio receiver and later with
a transmitter taking power from the car battery. Wavelengths
were selected and stations built at Los Angeles; Las Vegass
Milford, Utah and Salt Lake City. Signals between Las Vegas
and Salt Lake City were not always reliable so the Milford
station was added later, I made another survey discovering
that the nountaln where the Bingham copper nine was,created
a chadow on the Salt Lake alrport. Renting a vacant lot be-
hind the State Capitol and moving the radio shack there cured
the trouble and one day we flew into lMilford and dismantled
the installation, Due to the patent situation we could not
get. any transmitting vacuum tubes in the United States and
manufacturers abroad could not sell to us due to their agree-
ments with the American monopoly. Luckily, I found nn adver-
tisement of a manufacturer of X-ray tubes in Hamburs, Germany
who made good tubes for us. We purchased a stock sufficient
to last several years. To avold patent suit troubles we created
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a Nevada corporation named Alrways Radio Service, Inc, Ve

were not worried too much because the patent owningzg company

had been given an opportunity to provide the equipument but

they refuced to quote stating that theydid not have apparatus
suitable for the purpose. Besides, we were serving a contract-
or of the Government, There being no stockholder’s liability
in Nevada we ectabliahed this company to remove further incen-
tive for patent infringement sults.

Western Air Express opened service April 17, 1926.
The pilots were all aces from the war., The weather that day
was not good. Pilot laury Graham left Los Angeles with the
mail that morning. Pllot "Jimmy® James left Salt Lake City
about the same time, After refueling at Las Vezas, Grahanm
found the mountains to the northeast covered with clouds.. But
the mail had to get through so he followed the tracks of the
Union Pacific Railroad that went through a winding canyon
keeping the rails in view by looking back over his choulder,
Suddenly he s=aw a plane pass him betow going the other wayl
James was navigating the same way. I had many interesting
flights with thece boys. One of our amucsements was chasing
bands of wild horses in Utah, diving right over them, zoomlng
up and watching them gallop away. James later became President
of the coumpany. Graham, after.racking up awards for flying
the most miles without an accldent, ran out of fuel one winter
day in a snow storm just west of Zion National Park., [any weeks:
later the plane was found all intact with mail bags aboard and
"about five miles away Graham had prepared and consumed a meal
~and went asleep in the snow never to awake,

In 1926 Congress pacsed the Air Commerce Act creating
an Assistant Secretary for Aviation in the Department of Commerce
and providing funds for the licensing of pilots, alrcraft, light-
ing the airways for night flying with emergency landing fields
and a development program. Harris Hanchue, Western Air‘s
President told me about this at lwcha in Salt Lake City and
thought I should apply for the Job of running the development
program. Since my orange by-products business was belng
whittled away by the big operatérs, I took the suggestion ser-
lously and wrote Dr. J. H. Dellinger at the Bureau of Standards
who had charge of the program. Dellinger, an old friend from
war days, consulted the new Secretary for Air, William lilc Crack-
en and enthusiastically offered the position at an attractive
salary. Leaving Florence to sell the company, I moved to Wach-
ington and immersed myself in an exceedingly interesting progran.
I had a biplane, pilot and mechanic at the old College Park
Fleld where the army did ite first flylng years before. We
established another center at Bellefonte, Pa., a fueling stop
for the alr mall route. I enlisted the Ford Hotor Company for
ald and they provided a tri-motor plane with their test pilot
Harry Brooks and a mechanic, Other firms helped to devclop
apparatug and cservices. Our first objective was the radio
range. This navigation method was useless at night due to
what was called the *night effect® that caused a bending of
the courses, We conquered this defect. I hired a college
Profescor named Harry Diamond who did pioneering work and
started the instrument landing system project. Diamond achieved
fame as a developer of many things, particularly the proximity
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fuze, used so effectively in World War II., It was during

this perlod that Admiral Byrd organized hig first expedition
to the Antarctic and South Pole. One day a young man was

sent to me at College Park who was to go with the expedition,
to get acquainted with our program. He was the now famous
Iloyd Berkner, a leader in geophysics, atomic energy and other
fields, :

During early 1928 I received three offers. One was
from Mr, Stanley Dollar who wanted to create a trans-Pacific
radio communication system to gerve the Dollar Steamchip Com-
pany and their ships, another from the Bell Telephone Labora-
tories to head up a new aviation department and one from the
llackay Couwpanies, successors to the radio telegraph properties
of the Federal Telegraph Company. I refused the Dollar pro-
posal after becoming disenchanted with their patent position.
The Bell system offer was unattractive as I did not want to get
swallowed up in a large cumbercome organization. I became
Chief Engineer of the newly organized llackay Radio and Telegraph
Company. This grew out of the purchase of the system I had
built on the Pacific Coast by the Mackay interests that owned
the Postal Telegraph Coupany, The Coummercial Cable Company
connecting the North American and European continents and a
one quarter interest in the Commercial Pacific Cable Company
that operated the subumarine cable between San Francisco and
eastern Asgia, Hardly had I taken the position when the Hackay
interests were purchased by the International Telephone and
Telegraph Corporation, then Jjust rearing its head as a great
‘telecommunication empire, Its redoubtable organizer, Col
.Sosthenes Behn a one time banker in Puerto Rico, acquired the

lan Jaun telephone A system in payment of a bad
debt, became interested in communications; built an island-
wide telephone plant and then secured a concession in Cuba
where a modern telephone system was created throughout the
island connected with the United States by submarine cables
between Havana and Key West., He then went to Spain where
the Cuban performance was repeated. In 1928 he acquired the
$31 million manufacturing business the Bell system had abroad
and purchased the All American Cable Company that served North,
Central and South America. That year he acquired the telephone
gystem in Buenos Aires and other properties in the Americas.
Soon the Spanish performance was repeated in Romania.

A forward looking man, the sky was the limit when it
came to promoting eommunication properties, . Qur objective
was to bulld and expand them where we could but the going was
slow, The Colonel fent for me one day to say that one of his
lawyers had spoken well of me and told me not to let anybody
stop me from attaining goals. This was, as he said, because
some of his staff were timid, cautions and unprogressive. Hard
days came with the financial crash on 1929 and Behn had to
shrink his programs but this did not seem to be applied to
the group I was with which at the time was expanding across
the oceans to Asia, Europe and South America and to ships.
Even when very hard put for funds, the Colonal would always
conjure up meney for a project if convinced it was worthwhile
and convincing him was not too hard. The important thing was
to get to him before the shrinking violet officials did., Of
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course we always had to battle the intrenched officials of the
long establicshed wire and cable services with which companies
we were in competition but we knew this wag inevitable and pre-
pared for it., I doubt that we would have made this headway

had 1t not been for my old and very.fine friend A, Y. Tuel

who had been the Chief Operator for the Federal Telegraph Coum-
pany when I built ite system and who wound up as Vice President
and General Manager of the Mackay Radio and Telegraph Coumpany.
A very wise man, even tempered and possessed of an enticing
personality, he could overcome many obstacles. We made a great
team until, unfortunately this wonderful person lost his life
from heart fallure in 1935.

Isncdiately following World War I a patent monopoly
was organized in the formation of the Radio Corporation of
America, in the field of radio communication, Rights held by
the General Electric Company, the Marconl Company of Amerlca,
the Westlnghouse Company, the Electric Specilalty Company and
the American Telephone and Telegraph Coupany were consolidated,
Anyone that attempted to operate eystems or manufacture equip-
ment was sued or was threatened with sult for patent infringe-.
ment., Then this monopoly extended its scope by making cross
licensing agreements with firme in foreign countrles. They
nadc radio communication traffic agreements wlth forelgn oper-
ating agencies making them exclusive where they could with cross
traffic agreements between themselves, As an example, they
partitioned South America up and handed the pieces out to then-
.selves, In a few years suilt was brought by our Department of
Justice and the patent monopoly was partially corrected buty
-from a practical point of view this did not help much. Ny
company was the only one that had a good asset consistling of
a shop right to a baslc vacuum tube device that had been in-
vented and developed in the laboratories of the Federal Company
in 1911 and 1912, That gave us an entering wedge, For the
firast few years we spent large sums devising ways to avoid
patented methods, Once we were sued but, after some six years,
were completely vindlicated by the United States Supreme Court.
Obtaining communications circults with forelgn countries
went very slowly and with great difficulty, Our first one was
with Austria, then Hungary and soon after that with Dcnmark,

In the Pacific we fought the monopoly first in the Philippines,
then in China and lastly in Japan. In all three we gecured
concesisions but it took @ix years to accomplish this, Eventual-
ly our system covered the maj)or part of the civilized globe.

Part of my earlier activities concerned technical su-
pervision over come of thedevelopments golng forward in South
America, Starting in 1928, the parent company planned radio
telephone connections between the United States, Argentina,
Brazil; Chile, Perumd Colombia. Another program was for radio
telephone connections between Argentina and the European count-
ries of England, France, Germany and Spaln. Another was an
internal system within Brazil., Eventually all thesec were ac-
compliched. I recall shortly after the New York-Buenos Alres
connection was opened to public service, Colonel Behn had for
a luncheon guecst a prominent man from Spain., Thisg visitor hap-
pened to mention that his brother was then in Santiago, Chile.
The Colonel had a telephone brought to “the table, entered a call
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for the man and after a few moments was informed he was out on
a golf course and that a messenger had been sent for hia,

The surprise when the vigitor heard his brother®s volce was

a thing to see, He did not have the faintest idea that 1t was
possible to talk with another continent so far away.

International telegraph rules and procedures had for
years operated under Conventions and Treaties made following
the holding of international conferences. When wireless tele=-
graphy came along a Conference to study its international
problems was organized by Germany and the United Statesg be-
cauce England had refused to handle a message from a German
ship., Thig wasg because the Marconl Company held exclusive
rights in England and was not friendly to its German competi-
tors., This Confcrence, held in 1903 in Berlin, failed to get
its Convention ratified because of the opposition of England
and Italy but by 1906 the issues had become o vital that
another Conference was held and, in 1912 s&till another in Lon-
don. These resulted in Treaties although the United States did
not ratify the 1906 Convention until 1912, The next Conference
wae held in Washington in 1927 attended by come ninety natlons
and I became a delegate for the United States, Thereafter I

attended moct of them until 1951. At Cairo, Egypt, in 1938
- the Telegraph and Radio activities were combined into the
International Telecommunications Unlon., Over the years I went
to Denmark, Romanla, Egypt, Bermuda, Paris, London and Geneva
to attend these, I alsco attended Conferences on inter-American
problems in Havana and Rio de Janeiro. Preparation for thecse
" Involved countless meetinge at home,

Very coon after Jjoining the Mackay Company I was
appointed a Vice President. 1In 1931 we purchased the Federal
Telegraph Company which, after selling itse Pacific coast
telegraph system continued itse manufacturing business., The
factory was moved from Callifornia to Newark, New Jersey and 1its
scope of activities became enlarged, One of these was the
supplylng of large vacuum tubesg for the broadcasting industry
caterlng to the needs of those stations and networks competi-
tive to the National Broadcasting Company. "I became a Vice
Presldent of it and later General Manager. Another develop=-
ment cowmpany was established to make and warket selenium rect-
iflers., For a time I was in charge of that. During the second
World War other developmental companies appeared on the scene
and I became involved in them., Following the war I was appoint-
ed Vice President and Chief Enginecer of the holding coumpany
American Cable and Radio Company and two of its subsidlaries,
The Commercial Cable Company and All America Cables and Radio,

After the war started in Europe in 1939 it became
obvious after a time that the Uniteg States would become in-
volved, To prepare for this the National Defense Research
Committee was created by the Government. It became a part of
the 0ffice of Scientific Research and Developument, Dr. C. B.
Jolliffe of the Radio Corporation of America with whom I had
been ascsociated at the Bureau of Standards and the 1927 Radio
Telegraph Conference, was given the post of Chief of 1its
Divisgion 13, on Communications, He asked me to become a men-
ber of it, When he resigned in 1943 I-became its Chief., This
organlization was establicshed to promote technical developments
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for military purposies and the top people in the sclence
and engineering fraternities of the country became 1its admin-
istrators., It had ite own appropriations for conducting de-
velopumental work., Even if the military officlals were not in
favor of & project and there were numerous cacges of that, we
could procecd independently if that was our decision. We did
this once and one of the nilitary departments was agalnst it.
Later, it became of such importance that a sgpecial Division
wng established to deal with it and the opposing Offlcer was
_ transferred to another post. It was 110atly in the beginning
that thece military road blocks were put up; for example for
radar developnent, Not that they did not want to develop
radar but they did not want any outsiders dabbling in their
operations. But we progresised neverthelegcs, following the
example of Great Britain where the best talents in England
were mobilized in order to save the country. This was the
organization in the United States that produced the atomic
bomb, After the Conmittee was disbanded in 1946 the Resiearch
and Development Board of the Department of Defense was created
and I became Chalrman of its Communication Panel.

In 1914 I hecame a ticaber of the American Institute
of Electrical Engineers, organized in 1884, The same year I
Joined the Institute of Radio Engineers, organized in 1912
although 1t was a reorganization of the Wireless Institute
and the Society of Wirelesis Telegraph Engineers both of which
started in 1908, 1In 1935 I becaume a Director of the Institute
of RBadio Engineers and in 1938 ite President. At that time
it had about 5,500 members, By 1962 it had 100,000, a measure
of the growth of the industry. In 1963 the two Soclieties were
.merged and today we have 160,000 members., Over a perlod of
thirteen years I was involved in standardization activities
and was, during 1939 - 1942 a Director of the American Stan-
dards Agsociatlon, Secretary of the Institute from 1942 to
1965, I have been a Director continuously since 1935 and now
an Director Emeritus, In the American Institute of Electrical
Engineers I also helped with standards work and at one time
was Chairman of its Communicatlion Committee. The Institute
of Radio Engineers awarded me its Medal of Honor in 1944 and
its Founders Award in 1960,

In 1938 I received an invitation to a World Communica-
tion Convention in Sydney, Australia, This was part of a three
month celebration of the 150th anniversary of the founding of
Ausgstralia, I was made a Life Honorary llember of thelr Insti-
tution of Radio Engineers, I have belonged to a pioneer group
called the Radio Club of America that started about 1909 and
an a Life Member of the Veteran Wireless Operator's Association
which awarded me their Marconi lMedal of Achievement in 1951.

At the time of graduation from college in 1914 I was made a
nember of the scientific honor socilety Sigma Xi. In New York
I had a membership in the Downtown Athletic Club, 1928 to
1959,

About 1943 an industry set of Committees was eatab-
lished at a suggestion from the Government, to plan for post-
war conditions, It was called The Radio Technical Planning
Board. I became its Chalrman of the Panel on Communications.



Y s

Later I became Chairman of the Board. The patterns for post-
war developments in Broadcasting, Television and all other
fields comprising the radio industry were set by this
Board and received the blessings of the Government in-so~far
as governmental regulation was involved. After the conclusicn
of its work the Institute of Radio Engineers and the Radio
Hanufacturerfs Association created an independent group caliled
the Joint Technical Advisory Committee to advise government
departments should assistance be requested and I became one

of its eight members, An early accomplishment was the organ-
ization of sultable standards for color television.. Thisg
Committee continues to be active. In 1952 it produced a valuable
book titled Radio Spectrum Connservation followed by a new and
revised edition in 1966,

During the years I held licensies to practlice profess-
ional engineering in the States of New York, California, Oregon
and Washington.

In 1946 I was given the opportunity of attending the
atom bomb tests made at the island of Bikini in the Marcshall
Island group, called ¥“Operation Crossroads®, My title was:
Official U, S. Government Technical Observer, Comfortably
"quartered on the Coumand ship Panamint of the Navy along with
numerous other technical people including two from the Soviet
Unlon, I witnessed the first test, visiting the target ships
before and after., We were parked twenty miles away to see the
explosion. I could not stay for the second test, Arriving 1in
Honolulu on the way home, all alrlines were grounded because
.of the loss of a Constellation., Thls enabled me to spend
several days on the island of Hawaii until transportation
facllities agaln became available, Arthur Van Dyck and I
prepared a paper telling of our experlences that I presented
to a crowded audience at the Engineering Auditorium in New
York and was published by both the Electrical and Radio Engine
eers,

In 1950, Pregident Truman established a "President's
Conmunication Policy Board®consisting of Lee, A. DuBridge,
William L. Everitt, James R. Killian, Jr., David H. O°Brien
and Irvin Stewart as Chairman. Telecommunications in the Federal
Government was uncoordinated and this Board was asked to submit
recommendations for policies seeking to improve administrative
procedures, the relationchip of government communications to
non-government communications and policies with respect to in-
ternational radio and wire communications. The Board produced
a report titled®Telecommunications - A Report for Progress®,

It recommended a perr-nent three-man Advisory Board to advicse
the President, But President Truman did not want a Board saying
that there were too many of them. So one person was appointed.
In June while in Spain, I was asked whether I would accept such
an appointment, I flew to Washington to discuss it. The out-
cone was that I accepted after President Truman told me that

I was the only person acceptable to all of the government
departments involved. Upon concluding my European trip, I

was sworn 1ln during October 1951 with the title: Teleconmuni-
catlons Advicor to the President. I had previously arranged

a premature retirement from the American Cable and Radio Company.
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This post was establiched by Executive Order. I had
a permanent staff of five personsi. The activity was a sort
of experiment since it was impractical to accomplisch ite ob-
jective by law. While I had a very interc&ting, i1f not frus-
trating time, I early realized that we would not make much
progress without leglslation but I could not find any Senator
that wae interested, To enact legiglation in Congress it is
usually necesgary to find an enthusiastic, devoted sponsor.
Since the death of Senator Wallace White of Maine, who had
spongored telecommunication legislation for many years, ho
successor to him had appeared. The office I held was discon-
tinued by President Eisenhower in 1953 on the recommendation
of a Board headed by Nelson Rockefeller, on the ground that
too many individuals were reporting to the President., We now
had at the head a man not used to conventional methods of ad-
ministration having been trained in the military staff wmethod.

As a person; President Truman was human, soclable
and loyal to his people, in fact he often backed some when
he knew they were wrong. He told me right at the beginning
*that he would back me one hundred percent and not to let anyone
in Washington tell me otherwise., He also said to come to him if
I needed help., I avoided seeking his aid as much as possgible
as he was in the habit of picking up the telephone and talking
to anyone he thought would assist. Such telephone calls always
stirred up officialdom and for days thereafter one could get
calls asking what this was all about.. He was a hard worker
and on Monday mornings hisg desk usually was piled high with
papers that he called his week-end homework,

Soon after leaving this White House Job I became asiso-
clated with Fred W, Albertson, James Durkee and Carl Exselsen
in a developmental enterprise operating under the name of Dualex
Corporation. James Durkee who once worked for me at the lare
Island Navy Yard when he was a Chief Electrician in the Navy, had
an inventive mind and had created an improved method.for print-
ing telegraph systems by radio, particularly adapted for use
in aviation. This company was established to exploit hls in-
ventions, The firm Bell and Gossett 1n Illinois was given a
license for the United States and Canada and carried on develop-
ment and manufacturing activities. Bell and Gossett made pumps
and heatlng apparatus on a large scale, was very forward looking
but did not understand the way electronic development had to
be done so the program lagged through lack of foresight. We
finally decided to sell out to them and I retired from a business
life late in 1958. Dualex Corporation was the brain child of
Fred Albertson, a prominent Wacshington lawyer, who is one I
count as a very good friend, Carl Exselsen had poor health
and passed away a few years ago, James Durkee keeps fit and
happy on his farm in northwestern Arkansas, ralsing black
Angus cattle and growing mucshrooms,

During our New York days we lived on Long Island at
Jackson Helghts, Bayside, Douglaston and finally in a very ad-
equate two story house in Strathmore Village, Manhasset where
we were during the war, Our next home was at Silver Spring,
Maryland, a suburb of Washington, In 1955 we moved to Stam-
ford, Connecticut where we acquired a house in the hills north
of the Merritt Parkway. Selling this in 1959 we moved to
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Pompano Beach, Florida where ‘e got a house on a 100 foot

wide canal connecting with the ocean and bought a yacht, twin
diesel engines, with which we did a fair amount of cruising

to the northern states and the Bahama Islands, As Florence's
health deteriorated we were unable to use the boat much and 1t
wag gold in 1964, Soon after Florence passed away in Auguct.

We were fortunatc to be able to see much of the world.
Ag a youngster I saw the Pacific Coast of the United States and
part of Chile. My career in the Navy took me to many places
in this country. The years in aviation extended ny travels
much., The many years in the International Teclephone and Telegraph
Corporation also involved travel. The first European trip in
1931 involved England, Denmark, Germany, Austria, Hungary,
Switzerland and France. 1In 1937 I got to France, Switzerland,
Austria, Hungary, Romania and Germany. In 1938 were in France,
Italy, Egypt, Palestine and stopped in Irac, Iran, India,; Burma,
Thailand, Singapore, the East Indies, Aucstralia, New Zealand,
the Figi Islands and Hawaii, In 1949 we were in Paris more than
two months returning by way of the Netherlands, Belgium, England,
Ireland, Morocco, Tangler and Gibraltar. I had built, after the
war, a large radio communication plant at Tangier and at this
tine went to see it., The most extensive trip was around the
world in 1938. Florence joined me in Cairo, Egypt and we flew
to Singapore on an Imperial Airways plane called the Short,
a metal flying boat with four engines. Flying only in the day-
time, 1t gave us a chance to see places at stop-overs, for ex-
ample, Basra where I bought a Persian rug in a country village,
Karachi, Calcutta, Rangoon, Bangkok and Singapore. At this
Place we transferred to a de Haviland land plane, alsgo with
four engines, spending the first night on the island of Lomboc,
the second at Darwin, Australia and the third at Charleville,
Queensland, We flew by many volcanos between Batavia and Tiwmor
and crossed that bleak interior wasteland of Australia. From
Brisbane we went to Sydney by night traln. BReturning home we
came on the old S. S, Niagara, oncc the Pride of the Pacific
as she was referred to, to Honolulu via Suva and Canton Island.
From Honolulu we came on a Matson Company liner as the Niagara
went to Vancouver, B,C., our destination being San Francisco.

In 1965 I expanded my travels with an auto camping
trip to Alaska, Yukon Territory and the Pacific Coast states.
In 1966 I toured twenty eilght National Parks and lionuments
Plus some in western Canada. . -
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